

Online Research @ Cardiff

This is an Open Access document downloaded from ORCA, Cardiff University's institutional repository: <https://orca.cardiff.ac.uk/id/eprint/117704/>

This is the author's version of a work that was submitted to / accepted for publication.

Citation for final published version:

Summerer, Anna, Schäfer, Eleonora, Mautner, Victor-Felix, Messiaen, Ludwine, Cooper, David N. ORCID: <https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8943-8484> and Kehrer-Sawatzki, Hildegard 2019. Ultra-deep amplicon sequencing indicates absence of low-grade mosaicism with normal cells in patients with type-1 NF1 deletions. *Human Genetics* 138 (1), pp. 73-81. 10.1007/s00439-018-1961-5 file

Publishers page: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00439-018-1961-5>
<<http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00439-018-1961-5>>

Please note:

Changes made as a result of publishing processes such as copy-editing, formatting and page numbers may not be reflected in this version. For the definitive version of this publication, please refer to the published source. You are advised to consult the publisher's version if you wish to cite this paper.

This version is being made available in accordance with publisher policies.

See

<http://orca.cf.ac.uk/policies.html> for usage policies. Copyright and moral rights for publications made available in ORCA are retained by the copyright holders.



Ultra-deep amplicon sequencing indicates absence of low-grade mosaicism with normal cells in patients with type-1 *NFI* deletions

Anna Summerer¹, Eleonora Schäfer¹, Victor-Felix Mautner², Ludwine Messiaen³, David N. Cooper⁴, Hildegard Kehrer-Sawatzki¹

1: Institute of Human Genetics, University of Ulm, 89081 Ulm, Germany

2: Department of Neurology, University Hospital Hamburg Eppendorf, 20246 Hamburg, Germany

3: Department of Genetics, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, USA

4: Institute of Medical Genetics, School of Medicine, Cardiff University, Cardiff CF14 4XN, UK

Corresponding author:

Prof. Dr. Hildegard Kehrer-Sawatzki, PhD

Institute of Human Genetics, University of Ulm

Albert-Einstein-Allee 11

89081 Ulm, Germany

Phone: 0049 731 50065421

hildegard.kehrer-sawatzki@uni-ulm.de

Abstract

Different types of large *NF1* deletion are distinguishable by breakpoint location and potentially also by the frequency of mosaicism with normal cells lacking the deletion. However, low-grade mosaicism with fewer than 10% normal cells has not yet been excluded for all *NF1* deletion types since it is impossible to assess by the standard techniques used to identify such deletions, including MLPA and array analysis. Here, we used ultra-deep amplicon sequencing to investigate the presence of normal cells in the blood of [44-20](#) patients with type-1 *NF1* deletions lacking mosaicism according to MLPA. The ultra-deep sequencing entailed the screening of 96 amplicons for heterozygous SNVs located within the *NF1* deletion region. DNA samples from three previously identified patients with type-2 *NF1* deletions and low-grade mosaicism with normal cells as determined by FISH [or microsatellite marker analysis](#) -were used to validate our methodology. In these type-2 *NF1* deletion samples, proportions of 5.3%, 6.6% and 15.0% normal cells, respectively, were detected by ultra-deep amplicon sequencing. However, [using this highly sensitive method](#), none of the [44-20](#) patients with type-1 *NF1* deletions included in our analysis exhibited low-grade mosaicism with normal cells [in blood using this highly sensitive method](#), thereby supporting the view that the vast majority of type-1 deletions are germline deletions.

Keywords: neurofibromatosis type-1, NF1, *NF1* microdeletions, nonallelic homologous recombination (NAHR), low-grade mosaicism, ultra-deep amplicon sequencing, next-generation sequencing

Introduction

The most common recurrent mutations in neurofibromatosis type-1 (NF1) are large deletions encompassing the *NF1* gene at 17q11.2 and its flanking regions. These so-called *NF1* microdeletions have been detected in 4.7–11% of all patients with NF1 (MIM #162200) and are associated, in most instances, with a severe clinical phenotype (Cnossen et al. 1997; Rasmussen et al. 1998; Kluwe et al. 2004; Zhang et al. 2015). *NF1* microdeletions are nevertheless rare, occurring with an estimated frequency of 1: 60.000. Different types of large *NF1* deletion are known, which are distinguishable by virtue of their size and the location of their breakpoints. Type-1 *NF1* deletions encompass 1.4-Mb and are characterized by breakpoints located within the low-copy repeats (LCRs) termed NF1-REPa and NF1-REPc. The underlying mutational mechanism of type-1 *NF1* deletions is non-allelic homologous recombination (NAHR) between these LCRs (Dorschner et al. 2000; Jenne et al. 2001; López-Correa et al. 2001). Most type-1 *NF1* deletions exhibit breakpoints located within NAHR hotspots of 4-5 kb, termed paralogous recombination sites 1 and 2 (PRS1 and PRS2) (Forbes et al. 2004; De Raedt et al. 2006; Bengesser et al. 2014; Hillmer et al. 2016, 2017; Summerer et al. 2018). If all *NF1* microdeletions are considered, 70-80% are type-1 which is therefore the most common type of large *NF1* deletion (Pasmant et al. 2010; Messiaen et al. 2011). Type-2 *NF1* deletions encompass only 1.2-Mb and are mediated by NAHR between the *SUZ12* gene and its pseudogene *SUZ12P* flanking adjacent to NF1-REPc and NF1-REPa, respectively (Roehl et al. 2010a; Vogt et al. 2012). It has been estimated that type-2 *NF1* deletions account for 10-20% of all large *NF1* deletions (Kehrer-Sawatzki et al. 2004; Messiaen et al. 2011). The third recurrent type of large *NF1* deletion is the so-called type-3 *NF1* deletion, which is characterized by NAHR-mediated breakpoints located within NF1-REPb and NF1-REPc (Bengesser et al. 2010; Pasmant et al. 2010; Zickler et al. 2012). However, type-3 *NF1* deletions are relatively rare, since they comprise only 1.4–4% of all large *NF1* deletions (Pasmant et al. 2010; Messiaen et al. 2011).

NFI deletions of type-1, 2 and 3 have recurrent breakpoints ~~and are~~ mediated by NAHR. By contrast, atypical *NFI* deletions exhibit non-recurrent breakpoints and are not mediated by recombination but instead originate via double strand break repair or replication-associated mechanisms (reviewed by Kehrer-Sawatzki et al. 2017). Atypical *NFI* deletions are heterogeneous in relation to their size and the number of genes located within the deleted region (Vogt et al. 2014 and references therein). Atypical *NFI* deletions account for ~10% of all *NFI* microdeletions (Pasmant et al. 2010; Messiaen et al. 2011).

In addition to breakpoint location and underlying mutational mechanism, the various types of *NFI* microdeletion are potentially also distinguishable by the frequency of somatic mosaicism with normal cells not harbouring the *NFI* deletion. Type-2 *NFI* deletions are frequently of postzygotic origin (Kehrer-Sawatzki et al. 2004; Steinmann et al. 2007); indeed, at least 63% of all patients with type-2 *NFI* deletions exhibit somatic mosaicism with normal cells (Vogt et al. 2012). Importantly, type-2 deletions are mostly associated with low-grade mosaicism with normal cells in blood, characterized by low proportions (1-5%) of normal cells as determined by [interphase-FISH](#) (Roehl et al. 2012). The number of normal cells in these cases has been noted to be higher in other cell types such as skin fibroblasts and urine-derived cells and hence the detection of low-grade mosaicism with normal cells is somewhat easier in these tissues (Roehl et al. 2012). However, cells other than those derived from blood are often not available for analysis, ~~and s~~So far, FISH has been the only method suitable for the detection of low-grade mosaicism.

In addition to type-2 deletions, atypical *NFI* deletions are also frequently of postzygotic origin and it has been estimated that approximately 60% of atypical *NFI* deletions exhibit somatic mosaicism with normal cells (Vogt et al. 2014). However, as yet, the proportion of low-grade mosaicism with normal cells in patients with atypical *NFI* deletions has not been investigated in any detail.

In contrast to type-2 and atypical *NFI* deletions, only a very small proportion (3.4%) of type-1 *NFI* microdeletions have been observed to be of postzygotic origin and associated with somatic

mosaicism with normal cells not harbouring the deletion (Messiaen et al. 2011). In the study of Messiaen et al. (2011), four (3.4%) of 116 patients with type-1 *NFI* deletions exhibited mosaicism with normal cells. Only one of these four patients had low-grade mosaicism, with normal cells [being](#) present at a level of only 3% in the blood. In one of the four patients, the proportion of normal cells was not determined precisely and the other two patients exhibited 20% and 50% of normal cells in their blood as determined by FISH. Hence, low-grade mosaicism would appear to be very rare in patients with type-1 *NFI* deletions, [being](#) detected in only 1% of patients with type-1 *NFI* deletions. However, not all 116 patients in the study of Messiaen et al. (2011) have been investigated by FISH. Consequently, some patients with type-1 *NFI* deletions and mosaicism with normal cells might not have been detected, particularly those with a high proportion of cells harbouring the deletion and only low proportions of normal cells (< 10%) in blood.

Low-grade mosaicism with normal cells may have been overlooked in patients with type-1 *NFI* deletions investigated by classical methods used to detect *NFI* deletions such as multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (MLPA). This method is characterized by an intrinsic detection limit of 10-20% (Coll-Mulet et al. 2008; Stevens-Kroef et al. 2009; van Veghel-Plandsoen et al. 2011; reviewed by Hömig-Hölzel and Savola, 2012; Alhourani et al. 2014). In the case of patients with high proportions of cells with *NFI* microdeletions in their blood, normal cells not harbouring the deletion and present at proportions lower than 10-20% are not detected by MLPA. Similar detection limits are associated with other methods such as microarray analysis and Sanger sequencing (Tsiatis et al. 2010; Davidson et al. 2012; Oneda et al. 2017; Kumar et al. 2018). However, next generation sequencing methods including ultra-deep amplicon sequencing with high coverage of the target regions (> 1000 sequence reads), have been shown to detect low-grade somatic mosaicism down to [a level of](#) only a few percent (reviewed by Cohen et al. 2015; [and reviewed by](#) Gajecka, 2016; Contini et al. 2015; Quin et al. 2016; Bernkopf et al. 2017; Chang et al. 2017; Morimoto et al. 2017).

In the study presented here, we performed ultra-deep amplicon sequencing to investigate the putative presence of low proportions of normal cells in the blood of patients with type-1 *NFI* deletions which were initially identified by MLPA and not associated with somatic mosaicism according to this method. The principle of our approach was to screen for heterozygosity of single nucleotide variants (SNVs) located within the *NFI* microdeletion region which would indicate the presence of normal cells not harbouring the deletion. To analyse the frequency of somatic mosaicism in patients with type-1 *NFI* deletions is important since it can influence both the phenotypic expression of the disease and the transmission risk (reviewed by Kehrer-Sawatzki and Cooper, 2008). Further, although as a group, patients with type-1 *NFI* deletions exhibit a severe clinical phenotype, variability in the clinical manifestations of the disease is frequently observed at the individual level (Mautner et al. 2010). This variation could be associated with somatic mosaicism with normal cells that has remained undetected because it was present as low-grade mosaicism with normal cells in the blood. If low-grade mosaicism with normal cells were very rare in patients with type-1 deletions, the observed inter-individual differences in clinical manifestations might result from other factors such as modifying genes.

Patients and methods

Patients

In this study, [44 genomic DNA derived from blood samples of 20](#) patients with type-1 *NFI* deletions ~~were~~ was analysed by means of ultra-deep amplicon sequencing. The deletion breakpoints of ~~42-18~~ of these ~~44-20~~ patients have been previously determined by means of breakpoint-spanning PCRs (Mautner et al. 2010; Hillmer et al. 2016, 2017; Summerer et al. 2018). The deletions of the remaining two patients were characterized in terms of their breakpoint location during the course of this study. In addition to the ~~44-20~~ patients with type-1 *NFI* deletions, we investigated two patients with either an atypical *NFI* deletion or a type-2 deletion as summarized in Table 1. All ~~46-22~~ patients have been investigated by MLPA (P122 *NFI* area

probemix, version C2, MRC Holland, The Netherlands) in our previous study and somatic mosaicism with normal cells was not detected by this method (Summerer et al. 2018). The parental origin and the chromosomal mechanism underlying some of these deletions has been determined previously as indicated in Table 1 (Neuhäusler et al. 2018). The clinical features of the patients are summarized in Supp. Table S1. The patients provided written informed consent and the study was approved by the respective institutional review boards.

Ultra-deep amplicon sequencing

In total, 96 amplicons were amplified by PCR using the AmpliTaq Gold™ 360 Master Mix (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, USA) and primers listed in Supp. Table S2. The genomic positions of the amplicons, as well as the SNVs with a minor allele frequency (MAF) $\geq 1\%$ covered by these amplicons, are listed in Supp. Table S3. The amplicons had a mean size of 204-bp (size range: 124-bp to 266-bp) and were located within the *NFI* microdeletion region as schematically indicated in Figure 1. In total, 1809 SNVs were covered by these 96 amplicons. Of these 1809 SNVs, 141 SNVs had a MAF $\geq 5\%$ whereas 186 SNVs had a MAF $\geq 1\%$ (Supp. Table S3). The amplicons were purified using Exonuclease I (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, USA) and FastAP thermosensitive alkaline phosphatase (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, USA). All amplicons were quantified by means of the Qubit-4 fluorometer and equal amounts (14 ng) of each amplicon were added to the pool. The amplicons were produced and quantified at the Institute of Human Genetics, University of Ulm. In subsequent experiments were performed by Eurofins Genomics GmbH (Ebersberg, Germany) including the library preparation and the next step, adaptors were ligated to the pooled amplicons by means of the NEBNext Ultra II DNA Library Prep Kit (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA). Next, after adapter ligation, PCR was performed and the indexed libraries were subjected to paired-end sequencing on an Illumina HiSeq 4000 platform performed by Eurofins Genomics GmbH (Ebersberg, Germany). At least five million sequence reads were obtained from each patient-specific library

~~which~~ were analysed in different time-shifted batches; ~~and~~ hence not all libraries were sequenced on the same HiSeq 4000 lane.

The amplicon reads in FastQ file format were aligned against the reference sequence and analysed by means of the SeqNext module of the Sequence Pilot software (JSI medical systems GmbH, Ettenheim, Germany). Filtering of reads was performed according to the default settings: (i) Quality score threshold: 10, representing a base call accuracy of at least 90%; (ii) Ignore reads threshold: 30%, meaning that reads with more 30% of incorrect base calls were not considered. The mean number of reads (coverage) at the sites of SNVs with a MAF \geq 1% per DNA sample is summarized in Supp. Table S4.

Results

Validation of the ultra-deep amplicon sequencing

In this study, we performed ultra-deep sequencing of 96 amplicons covering a total of 186 SNVs with a MAF \geq 1% (Supp. Table S3) and investigated the allele frequency and heterozygosity of these SNVs located within the *NFI* microdeletion region (Figure 1). In order to evaluate the efficiency of ~~this approach~~ ultra-deep sequencing of the amplicons designed by us to detect low-grade mosaicism with normal cells, we analysed DNA samples derived from the blood of three patients with mosaic type-2 *NFI* deletions previously identified by either ~~interphase~~-FISH or microsatellite marker analysis (Roehl et al. 2010a, 2012). Type-2 *NFI* deletions are frequently of postzygotic origin, and patients with these deletions exhibit low numbers (1–10%) of normal cells in blood (Roehl et al. 2012). In the three blood-derived DNA samples used to validate our approach, ultra-deep amplicon sequencing detected proportions of normal cells of 5.3%, 6.6% and 15.0%, respectively (Table 2; Supp. Tables S5-S7). The number of heterozygous SNVs per patient was 42, 36 and 45 SNVs, respectively (Supp. Tables S5-S10).

From these validation experiments, we were able to conclude that heterozygosity of SNVs with frequencies of the second allele $<$ 1% were likely to be artefacts caused by sequencing errors

(Supp. Tables S8-S10). Further, we deduced from the validation experiments that at least three SNVs must exhibit heterozygosity for us to be able to conclude that low grade mosaicism was present. Consanguinity was not reported in relation to the parents of the patients we investigated, who were either of European or North American descent. Hence, autozygosity is unlikely to have impaired our analysis. Further, extended homozygosity of the complete *NFI* deletion region has not been observed by means of SNP array analysis in Europeans (Roehl et al. 2010b). The validation experiments performed here indicated an average of 41 heterozygous SNPs per DNA sample which demonstrated that the 96 amplicons, designed by us to covering the entire *NFI* deletion interval, are well suited for the reliable detection of low-grade mosaicism with normal cells.

~~The PCR preceding the ultra-deep sequencing to generate the amplicons may have introduced a quantification bias, both either by sequencing errors and or by preferential amplification of one allele. It has been shown that nucleotide substitution errors, in particular transitions, introduced during the preceding PCR amplification of the target regions, can impact upon the ultra-deep sequencing results (Brodin et al. 2013; Shao et al. 2013). Site-specific frequencies of substitution errors have been observed in the range of 0.0063% - 1.17% (Brodin et al. 2013). Additionally, quantification of alleles may be hampered by an amplification bias caused by SNVs at primer binding sites. In order to reduce the effect impact of any such a bias, we have taken care to ensure that the three nucleotides at the 3' prime end of the PCR primers did not bind to SNVs with a minor allele frequency >1%. Nevertheless, we can not exclude the possibility that an amplification bias of certain alleles has influenced our analysis. In order to assess a putative this possible quantification bias in greater detail, we analysed the alleles at sites of heterozygous SNVs in patients with mosaic type-2 deletions (Supp. Table S11). The average proportions of the alleles present at lower proportions frequencies and derived from normal cells were 5% in patient 1502, 6.2% in patient 1630 and 13.1% in patient UC172. Our analysis was based on the assumption that the difference between this average and the observed~~

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: Line spacing: Double

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

proportion of the ~~lower~~ ~~less frequently~~ represented allele of the given SNV may reflect a quantification bias. In total, 39 SNVs were informative in the sense that they were heterozygous in at least two patients with mosaic type-2 deletions. For 23 of these 39 SNVs, we observed a bias ~~towards~~ ~~in favour of~~ the amplification of a specific allele in at least two patients. However, on average this bias amounted only 0.6% of the estimated allele frequency (range: 0% - 3%; Supp. Table S11).

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Remarkably, the proportions of normal cells in the blood of the three patients ~~with type-2 deletions~~ were estimated to be higher by ultra-deep amplicon sequencing than by ~~interphase-~~

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

FISH even though the same blood samples had been analysed (Table 2). This difference may have resulted from the stringent FISH evaluation performed in our previous study which erred on the conservative side by aiming to avoid consideration of false positive normal cells (Roehl et al. 2012). On the other hand, the allele frequencies of heterozygous SNVs determined by ultra-deep sequencing showed some variation when different amplicons derived from the same DNA sample were compared, possibly indicative of ~~a quantification bias as mentioned above~~ ~~primer-specific differences in the amplification rate of the minor alleles~~ (Supp. Figure S1; Supp. Table S11).

Nevertheless, our results clearly indicate that ultra-deep sequencing of the amplicons represents a very sensitive technique for the detection of low-grade mosaicism with normal cells in the blood of patients with high numbers of cells harbouring large *NF1* deletions.

Investigation of potential low-grade mosaicism in ~~46-22~~ patients with large *NF1* deletions

We analysed ~~46-22~~ patients with large *NF1* deletions for the presence of low-grade mosaicism with normal cells. Since ~~interphase-~~FISH had not been performed with blood samples from any of these ~~46-22~~ patients, low-grade mosaicism with normal cells could not be excluded. Our study cohort included ~~44-20~~ patients with type-1 *NF1* deletions as well as one patient with an atypical *NF1* deletion. The breakpoints of this atypical deletion ~~we~~ ~~are~~ ~~found~~ ~~to~~ ~~be~~ located within NF1-

REPa and NF1-REPC but not within regions with high sequence similarity between the LCRs.

Thus, the deletion was not mediated by NAHR, as was noted in our previous study (Summerer et al. 2018). Further, we also investigated a patient with a type-2 *NF1* deletion who exhibited a severe clinical phenotype, which is unusual for patients with mosaic type-2 deletions (Table 1, Supp. Table S1).

Twelve-Eighteen of the 14-20 patients with type-1 *NF1* deletions had breakpoints located within the NAHR hotspots PRS1 and PRS2 as determined previously (Table 1). Two of these 14-20 patients had breakpoints located outside these hotspots but within other regions of high sequence homology between NF1-REPa and NF1-REPC. The breakpoints in one of them, patient 4631, were had not been previously reported but were instead determined by microarray analysis and breakpoint-spanning PCR performed during the course of this study. As schematically indicated in Supp. Figure S2, the breakpoints of this NAHR-mediated deletion were found to be located within the *LRRC37B* gene and its pseudogene as determined by the sequence analysis of breakpoint-spanning PCR products.

To investigate the potential presence of low proportions of normal cells in the blood of these 16-22 patients, we performed ultra-deep sequencing of the 96 amplicons as described above (and validated by means of the confirmed mosaic type-2 NF1 deletions). In none of the 16-22 patients was a second allele observed with a frequency > 1% in more than two SNVs (Supp. Tables 12+-33226). Hence low-grade mosaicism with normal cells was not detected in any of these cases by means of the ultra-deep amplicon approach.

Discussion

The analysis of low-grade mosaicism with normal cells in patients with large *NF1* deletions is potentially very important in the context of ascertaining genotype/phenotype correlations. So far, FISH has been the method of choice for the investigation of low-grade mosaicism but this method has its application limits since it is dependent upon the availability of (i) fresh blood

samples, (ii) high quality FISH probes which are not commercially available and (iii) experienced cytogeneticists to assess low-grade mosaicism with normal cells to a high degree of accuracy.

The study presented here is the first to demonstrate that ultra-deep amplicon sequencing is well suited to detect low-grade mosaicism of normal cells in NF1 patients with high numbers of cells harbouring large *NF1* deletions. Our validation experiments using three mosaic type-2 *NF1* deletions previously identified by [interphase-FISH](#) or microsatellite marker analysis indicated low proportions (5.3%, 6.6% and 15.0%) of normal cells in the blood of the patients (Supp. Tables S5-S7; Table 2). Type-2 *NF1* deletions are frequently of postzygotic origin associated with high numbers of cells harbouring the deletion in blood (Kehrer-Sawatzki et al. 2004; Vogt et al. 2012). By contrast, the frequency of low-grade mosaicism with normal cells in patients with other types of large *NF1* deletions has not as yet been investigated in any detail. Previous studies have suggested that only a small proportion of type-1 *NF1* microdeletions are of postzygotic origin associated with somatic mosaicism with normal cells (Messiaen et al. 2011). In the latter study, low-grade mosaicism characterized by 3% of normal cells was detected in only one of 116 patients with type-1 *NF1* deletions investigated. However, not all 116 patients in the study of Messiaen et al. (2011) have been analysed by FISH. Consequently, some patients with type-1 *NF1* deletions and mosaicism with normal cells may not have been detected, particularly those with low proportions of normal cells (<10%) in blood.

To further investigate the frequency of low-grade mosaicism with normal cells in patients with type-1 *NF1* deletions, we performed ultra-deep amplicon sequencing in ~~14~~20 patients with type-1 *NF1* deletions, which is as yet the most sensitive method to detect low-grade mosaicism.

However, proportions of second alleles >1% ~~of~~ more than two SNVs located within the *NF1* deletion region, indicative of the presence of normal cells, were not detected (Supp. Tables S1~~2~~~~4~~~~6~~~~33~~~~2~~). This finding implies that low-grade mosaicism (~~<10%~~) with normal cells is indeed very rare in patients with type-1 *NF1* deletions. Nevertheless, since cells other than blood-derived cells were not available to us for further analysis, the presence of low-grade mosaicism in the

patients with type-1 *NFI* deletions investigated ~~by us~~ can not be completely excluded. As mentioned above, patients with mosaic type-2 *NFI* deletions frequently exhibit high numbers (> 90%) of cells harbouring the deletion in blood but lower proportions of cells with the deletion in other tissues (Roehl et al. 2012). We analysed three type-2 *NFI* deletions exhibiting high proportions of cells with the deletion in blood (94.6%, 93.4% and 85.0%) by means of ultra-deep sequencing and mosaicism with normal cells was readily detected. Hence, we believe that ultra-deep sequencing is indeed a powerful technique to detect low-grade mosaicism ~~of~~with normal cells, even if the proportion of cells harbouring the deletion is very high. Our analyses of 20 patients with type-1 deletions as well as the validation experiments we performed, imply that the detection limit of the ultra-deep sequencing approach is ~~in the range of~~around 1%. In other words, normal cells present ~~at~~in a proportions ~~lower than~~<1% ~~we would not have been gone undetected~~by us. Our findings indicate that at least 99% of cells in the blood of the type-1 deletions investigated by us harboured the deletion and if normal cells ~~would have been were~~ present, their proportion ~~sh~~ould have been lower than 1%.

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

The ~~assumption~~conclusion that the majority of type-1 *NFI* deletions are of meiotic origin and hence not associated with somatic mosaicism is supported by the observation of a pronounced maternal parent-of-origin bias for type-1 *NFI* deletions and the predominance of interchromosomal NAHR causing these deletions. Previous analyses have shown that ~91% of all type-1 *NFI* deletions are of maternal origin and predominantly caused by interchromosomal NAHR (observed in 87.5% informative cases) (López-Correa et al. 2000; Neuhäusler et al. 2018). Interchromosomal exchange of maternal chromosomes causing type-1 deletions most likely occurs by unequal crossover during meiosis I, when the homologous chromosomes are joined by the synaptonemal complex ~~and thus brought~~thereby bringing them into close proximity to ~~one each~~ another for an extended period of time. By contrast, type-2 *NFI* deletions, which are frequently of postzygotic origin, are mediated by intrachromosomal NAHR and any preference for a parental origin has not been observed (Roehl et al. 2010a).

It may be possible that some of the less frequent type-1 *NF1* deletions of paternal origin and those mediated by intrachromosomal NAHR could be of postzygotic origin, in contrast to the *NF1* deletions mediated by interchromosomal NAHR which are more likely to occur during meiosis. These deletions are however rare and family analysis including siblings by means of microsatellite marker analysis is necessary to identify the parental and chromosomal origin of the deletions. In the study presented here, we analysed three paternal type-1 *NF1* deletions as well as two maternally derived type-1 deletions mediated by intrachromosomal NAHR (Table 1). In total, we analysed five of the rare type-1 deletions mediated by intrachromosomal NAHR. Even in these rare forms of type-1 *NF1* deletion, low-grade mosaicism with normal cells was not detected by ultra-deep amplicon sequencing which is the most sensitive method available to detect this type of mosaicism.

We conclude that low-grade mosaicism with normal cells, frequently observed in patients with type-2 *NF1* deletions, is very rare in patients with type-1 deletions, which seem to occur in most instances in the germline of a parent and are then transmitted to the child. Ectopic recombination occurring during meiosis between misaligned chromosomes 17 is predominantly located within the NAHR hotspots located in NF1-REPa and NF1-REPC and not within ~~in~~ the paralogous *SUZ12* gene and its pseudogene ~~immediately flanking adjacent to~~ these LCRs. By contrast, *SUZ12* and *SUZ12P* harbour the breakpoints that result from mitotic NAHR which must occur early during embryonic development, giving rise to type-2 deletions (Roehl et al. 2012). ~~A potential~~ One explanation for this could be; that the SUZ12 protein is an essential part of the polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2) which is required for embryonic stem cell differentiation and development (Bracken et al. 2006; Pasini et al. 2007). Hence transcription of *SUZ12* needs to be increased during early embryonic development which may result in an open chromatin conformation that is vulnerable to DNA double strand break formation and transcription-associated recombination (reviewed by Gottipati and Helleday 2009, reviewed by Marnef et al. 2017). Nevertheless, ~~The~~ reasons for these positional preferences of meiotic vs. mitotic

Formatted: Font: Italic

recombination breakpoints are still unclear and further studies ~~are~~ will be necessary to investigate whether structural genomic variants, such as large inversions of the *NFI* gene region, might exist that could predispose to misalignments of chromosomes 17 during meiosis and NAHR-mediated breakpoints within NF1-REPa and NF1-REPc causing germline type-1 *NFI* deletions.

Conflict of interest statement

~~On behalf of all~~The authors ~~are unaware of any, the corresponding author states that there is no~~ conflict of interest.

Acknowledgment

This work has been funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) grant KE 724/12-2.

References

- Alhourani E, Rincic M, Othman MAK, Pohle B, Schlie C, Glaeser A, Liehr T (2014) Comprehensive chronic lymphocytic leukemia diagnostics by combined multiplex ligation dependent probe amplification (MLPA) and interphase fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (iFISH). *Mol Cytogenet* 7:79.
- Bengesser K, Cooper DN, Steinmann K, Kluwe L, Chuzhanova NA, Wimmer K, Tatagiba M, Tinschert S, Mautner VF, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2010) A novel third type of recurrent *NFI* microdeletion mediated by nonallelic homologous recombination between LRRC37B-containing low-copy repeats in 17q11.2. *Hum Mutat* 31:742-751.
- Bengesser K, Vogt J, Mussotter T, Mautner VF, Messiaen L, Cooper DN, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2014) Analysis of crossover breakpoints yields new insights into the nature of the gene

conversion events associated with large *NFI* deletions mediated by nonallelic homologous recombination. *Hum Mutat* 35:215-226.

Bernkopf M, Hunt D, Koelling N, Morgan T, Collins AL, Fairhurst J, Robertson SP, Douglas AGL, Goriely A (2017) Quantification of transmission risk in a male patient with a *FLNB* mosaic mutation causing Larsen syndrome: Implications for genetic counseling in postzygotic mosaicism cases. *Hum Mutat* 38:1360-1364.

[Bracken AP, Dietrich N, Pasini D, Hansen KH, Helin K \(2006\) Genome-wide mapping of polycomb target genes unravels their roles in cell fate transitions. *Genes Dev* 20:1123-1136.](#)

[Brodin J, Mild M, Hedskog C, Sherwood E, Leitner T, Andersson B, Albert J \(2013\) PCR-induced transitions are the major source of error in cleaned ultra-deep pyrosequencing data. *PLoS One* 8:e70388.](#)

Chang F, Liu L, Fang E, Zhang G, Chen T, Cao K, Li Y, Li MM (2017) Molecular diagnosis of mosaic overgrowth syndromes using a custom-designed next-generation sequencing panel. *J Mol Diagn* 19:613-624.

Crossen MH, van der Est MN, Breuning MH, van Asperen CJ, Breslau-Siderius EJ, van der Ploeg AT, de Goede-Bolder A, van den Ouweland AM, Halley DJ, Niermeijer MF (1997) Deletions spanning the neurofibromatosis type 1 gene: implications for genotype-phenotype correlations in neurofibromatosis type 1? *Hum Mutat* 9:458-464.

Cohen AS, Wilson SL, Trinh J, Ye XC (2015) Detecting somatic mosaicism: considerations and clinical implications. *Clin Genet* 87:554-562.

Coll-Mulet L, Santidrián AF, Cosialls AM, Iglesias-Serret D, de Frias M, Grau J, Menoyo A, González-Barca E, Pons G, Domingo A, Gil J (2008) Multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification for detection of genomic alterations in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Br J Haematol* 142:793-801.

Contini E, Paganini I, Sestini R, Candita L, Capone GL, Barbetti L, Falconi S, Frusconi S, Giotti I, Giuliani C, Torricelli F, Benelli M, Papi L (2015) A systematic assessment of accuracy in detecting somatic mosaic variants by deep amplicon sequencing: application to *NF2* gene. *PLoS One* 10:e0129099.

Davidson CJ, Zering E, Champion KJ, Gauthier MP, Wang F, Boonyaratanakornkit J, Jones JR, Schreiber E (2012) Improving the limit of detection for Sanger sequencing: a comparison of methodologies for *KRAS* variant detection. *Biotechniques* 53: 182-188.

De Raedt T, Stephens M, Heyns I, Brems H, Thijs D, Messiaen L, Stephens K, Lazaro C, Wimmer K, Kehrer-Sawatzki H, Vidaud D, Kluwe L, Marynen P, Legius E (2006) Conservation of hotspots for recombination in low-copy repeats associated with the *NF1* microdeletion. *Nat Genet* 38:1419-1423.

Dorschner MO, Sybert VP, Weaver M, Pletcher BA, Stephens K (2000) *NF1* microdeletion breakpoints are clustered at flanking repetitive sequences. *Hum Mol Genet* 9:35-46.

Forbes SH, Dorschner MO, Le R, Stephens K (2004) Genomic context of paralogous recombination hotspots mediating recurrent *NF1* region microdeletion. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* 41:12-25.

Gajecka M (2016) Unrevealed mosaicism in the next-generation sequencing era. *Mol Genet Genomics* 291:513-530.

[Gottipati P, Helleday T \(2009\) Transcription-associated recombination in eukaryotes: link between transcription, replication and recombination. *Mutagenesis* 24:203-210.](#)

Hillmer M, Wagner D, Summerer A, Daiber M, Mautner VF, Messiaen L, Cooper DN, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2016) Fine mapping of meiotic NAHR-associated crossovers causing large *NFI* deletions. *Hum Mol Genet* 25:484-496.

Hillmer M, Summerer A, Mautner VF, Högel J, Cooper DN, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2017) Consideration of the haplotype diversity at nonallelic homologous recombination hotspots improves the precision of rearrangement breakpoint identification. *Hum Mutat* 38:1711-1722.

Hömig-Hölzel C, Savola S (2012) Multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (MLPA) in tumor diagnostics and prognostics. *Diagn Mol Pathol* 21:189-206.

Jenne DE, Tinschert S, Reimann H, Lasinger W, Thiel G, Hameister H, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2001) Molecular characterization and gene content of breakpoint boundaries in patients with neurofibromatosis type 1 with 17q11.2 microdeletions. *Am J Hum Genet* 69:516-527.

Kehrer-Sawatzki H, Kluwe L, Sandig C, Kohn M, Wimmer K, Krammer U, Peyrl A, Jenne DE, Hansmann I, Mautner VF (2004) High frequency of mosaicism among patients with neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1) with microdeletions caused by somatic recombination of the *JJAZI* gene. *Am J Hum Genet* 75:410-423.

Kehrer-Sawatzki H, Cooper DN (2008) Mosaicism in sporadic neurofibromatosis type 1: variations on a theme common to other hereditary cancer syndromes? *J Med Genet* 45:622-631.

Kehrer-Sawatzki H, Mautner VF, Cooper DN (2017) Emerging genotype-phenotype relationships in patients with large *NF1* deletions. *Hum Genet* 136:349-376.

Kluwe L, Siebert R, Gesk S, Friedrich RE, Tinschert S, Kehrer-Sawatzki H, Mautner VF (2004) Screening 500 unselected neurofibromatosis 1 patients for deletions of the *NF1* gene. *Hum Mutat* 23:111-116.

Kumar D, Mehta A, Panigrahi MK, Nath S, Saika KK (2018) *NPM1* mutation analysis in acute myeloid leukemia: comparison of three techniques – Sanger sequencing, pyrosequencing, and real-time polymerase chain reaction. *Turk J Haematol* 35:49-53.

López-Correa C, Brems H, Lázaro C, Marynen P, Legius E (2000) Unequal meiotic crossover: a frequent cause of *NF1* microdeletions. *Am J Hum Genet* 66:1969-1974.

López-Correa C, Dorschner M, Brems H, Lázaro C, Clementi M, Upadhyaya M, Dooijes D, Moog U, Kehrer-Sawatzki H, Rutkowski JL, Fryns JP, Marynen P, Stephens K, Legius E (2001) Recombination hotspot in *NF1* microdeletion patients. *Hum Mol Genet* 10:1387-1392.

[Marnef A, Cohen S, Legube G \(2017\) Transcription-coupled DNA double-strand break repair: active genes need special care. *J Mol Biol* 429:1277-1288.](#)

Mautner VF, Kluwe L, Friedrich RE, Roehl AC, Bammert S, Högel J, Spöri H, Cooper DN, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2010) Clinical characterisation of 29 neurofibromatosis type-1 patients with molecularly ascertained 1.4 Mb type-1 *NF1* deletions. *J Med Genet* 47:623-630.

Messiaen L, Vogt J, Bengesser K, Fu C, Mikhail F, Serra E, Garcia-Linares C, Cooper DN, Lazaro C, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2011) Mosaic type-1 *NF1* microdeletions as a cause of both generalized and segmental neurofibromatosis type-1 (NF1). *Hum Mutat* 32:213-219.

Morimoto Y, Ono S, Imamura A, Okazaki Y, Kinoshita A, Mishima H, Nakane H, Ozawa H, Yoshiura KI, Kurotaki N (2017) Deep sequencing reveals variations in somatic cell mosaic mutations between monozygotic twins with discordant psychiatric disease. *Hum Genome Var* 4:17032.

Neuhäusler L, Summerer A, Cooper DN, Mautner VF, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2018) Pronounced maternal parent-of-origin bias for type-1 *NF1* microdeletions. *Hum Genet* 137:365-373.

Oneda B, Asadollahi R, Azzarello-Burri S, Niedrist D, Baldinger R, Masood R, Schinzel A, Latal B, Jenni OG, Rauch A (2017) Low-level chromosomal mosaicism in neurodevelopmental disorders. *Mol Syndromol* 8:266-271.

[Pasini D, Bracken AP, Hansen JB, Capillo M, Helin K \(2007\) The polycomb group protein *Suz12* is required for embryonic stem cell differentiation. *Mol Cell Biol* 27:3769-3779.](#)

Pasmant E, Sabbagh A, Spurlock G, Laurendeau I, Grillo E, Hamel MJ, Martin L, Barbarot S, Leheup B, Rodriguez D, Lacombe D, Dollfus H, Pasquier L, Isidor B, Ferkal S, Soulier J, Sanson M, Dieux-Coeslier A, Bièche I, Parfait B, Vidaud M, Wolkenstein P, Upadhyaya M, Vidaud D;

Members of the NF France Network (2010) *NFI* microdeletions in neurofibromatosis type 1: from genotype to phenotype. *Hum Mutat* 31:E1506-1518.

Qin L, Wang J, Tian X, Yu H, Truong C, Mitchell JJ, Wierenga KJ, Craigen WJ, Zhang VW, Wong LC (2016) Detection and quantification of mosaic mutations in disease genes by next-generation sequencing. *J Mol Diagn* 18:446-453.

Rasmussen SA, Colman SD, Ho VT, Abernathy CR, Arn PH, Weiss L, Schwartz C, Saul RA, Wallace MR (1998) Constitutional and mosaic large *NFI* gene deletions in neurofibromatosis type 1. *J Med Genet* 35:468-471.

Roehl AC, Vogt J, Mussotter T, Zickler AN, Spöti H, Högel J, Chuzhanova NA, Wimmer K, Kluwe L, Mautner VF, Cooper DN, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2010a) Intrachromosomal mitotic nonallelic homologous recombination is the major molecular mechanism underlying type-2 *NFI* deletions. *Hum Mutat* 31:1163-1173.

Roehl AC, Cooper DN, Kluwe L, Helbrich A, Wimmer K, Högel J, Mautner VF, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2010b) Extended runs of homozygosity at 17q11.2: an association with type-2 *NFI* deletions? *Hum Mutat* 31:325-334.

Roehl AC, Mussotter T, Cooper DN, Kluwe L, Wimmer K, Högel J, Zetzmann M, Vogt J, Mautner VF, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2012) Tissue-specific differences in the proportion of mosaic large *NFI* deletions are suggestive of a selective growth advantage of hematopoietic del(+/-) stem cells. *Hum Mutat* 33:541-550.

[Shao W, Boltz VF, Spindler JE, Kearney MF, Maldarelli F, Mellors JW, Stewart C, Volfovsky N, Levitsky A, Stephens RM, Coffin JM \(2013\) Analysis of 454 sequencing error rate, error sources, and artifact recombination for detection of low-frequency drug resistance mutations in HIV-1 DNA. *Retrovirology* 10:18.](#)

Steinmann K, Cooper DN, Kluwe L, Chuzhanova NA, Senger C, Serra E, Lazaro C, Gilaberte M, Wimmer K, Mautner VF, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2007) Type 2 *NFI* deletions are highly unusual by virtue of the absence of nonallelic homologous recombination hotspots and an apparent preference for female mitotic recombination. *Am J Hum Genet* 81:1201-1220.

Stevens-Kroef M, Simons A, Gorissen H, Feuth T, Weghuis DO, Buijs A, Raymakers R, Geurts van Kessel A (2009) Identification of chromosomal abnormalities relevant to prognosis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia using multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet* 195:97-104.

Summerer A, Mautner VF, Upadhyaya M, Claes KBM, Högel J, Cooper DN, Messiaen L, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2018) Extreme clustering of type-1 *NFI* deletion breakpoints co-locating with G-quadruplex forming sequences. *Hum Genet* ~~[Epub ahead of print]~~[137:511-520.](#)

Tsiatis AC, Norris-Kirby A, Rich RG, Hafez MJ, Gocke CD, Eshleman JR, Murphy KM (2010) Comparison of Sanger sequencing, pyrosequencing, and melting curve analysis for the detection of *KRAS* mutations: diagnostic and clinical implications. *J Mol Diagn* 12:425-432.

Vogt J, Mussotter T, Bengesser K, Claes K, Högel J, Chuzhanova N, Fu C, van den Ende J, Mautner VF, Cooper DN, Messiaen L, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2012) Identification of recurrent

type-2 *NF1* microdeletions reveals a mitotic nonallelic homologous recombination hotspot underlying a human genomic disorder. *Hum Mutat* 33:1599-1609.

van Veghel-Plandsoen MM, Wouters CH, Kromosoeto JN, den Ridder-Klünne MC, Halley DJ, van den Ouweland AM (2011) Multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification is not suitable for detection of low-grade mosaicism. *Eur J Hum Genet* 19:1009-1012.

Vogt J, Bengesser K, Claes KB, Wimmer K, Mautner VF, van Minkelen R, Legius E, Brems H, Upadhyaya M, Högel J, Lazaro C, Rosenbaum T, Bammert S, Messiaen L, Cooper DN, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2014) SVA retrotransposon insertion-associated deletion represents a novel mutational mechanism underlying large genomic copy number changes with non-recurrent breakpoints. *Genome Biol* 15:R80.

Zhang J, Tong H, Fu X, Zhang Y, Liu J, Cheng R, Liang J, Peng J, Sun Z, Liu H, Zhang F, Lu W, Li M, Yao Z (2015) Molecular characterization of *NF1* and neurofibromatosis type 1 genotype-phenotype correlations in a Chinese population. *Sci Rep* 5:11291.

Zickler AM, Hampp S, Messiaen L, Bengesser K, Mussotter T, Roehl AC, Wimmer K, Mautner VF, Kluwe L, Upadhyaya M, Pasmant E, Chuzhanova N, Kestler HA, Högel J, Legius E, Claes K, Cooper DN, Kehrer-Sawatzki H (2012) Characterization of the nonallelic homologous recombination hotspot PRS3 associated with type-3 *NF1* deletions. *Hum Mutat* 33:372-383.

Legend

Figure 1: Schema of the type-1 *NF1* deletion region flanked by the low-copy repeats *NF1*-REPa and *NF1*-REPc. Horizontal black bars indicate the genes located in regions flanking the *NF1* gene. The relative positions of the 96 amplicons that have been analysed by ultra-deep

sequencing in order to identify low-grade mosaicism with normal cells are indicated by vertical bars.